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THE SUTTER BASIN CONTROVERSY
by Clement Guise
i, Elements conecerned in the controversy

The Sutter Basin story and the eventual controversy that
resolved around it ineluded all or rarts of nine reclamation
districts, two levee districts and an assessment district. Names
and locations of the seven reclemation districts of concern to
this paper: Distriet No. 70 near Meridian, Distriet No. 777 in
the Live Oak section, District No. 803 on the 01d Rideout Ranch
and between Mercus and the tules, District 1000 partly in Sutter
County and m rtly in Sacramento County, District No. 1001 located
pertly in Placer County and partly in Sutter County along Bear River
south to Vernon, District 1500 being the Sutter Basin Project, and
~ District 1600 located morth of Distriet 1500, The levee district
involved is Levee Distriet No._ 1 extending from Yubs City south to
the Marcus levee and westward.

Besides these areas, there is also an Assessment District
involved in Sutter County for floog contnol, this i1s the Sutter
By+pass Assessment District No. 6. Assegsment Distriect No. 6 is
composed of those counties located in the Sacramento Valley.
However, the heart of the Sutter Basin contains Reclamstion District
1500, largest of all, covering sixty-six thousand two hundred acres
of which the Sutter Basin Company owned forty-five thousand acres.

The Sutter Basin was originslly an overflow basin of the
Sacramento and Feather Rivers, covered by & sea of tulese The
basin at the time of high water appeared to a man standing on' top
of the Sutter Buttes as if 1t were a vast lake.4 Eventually when
plans to reclaim this awea were formed, the project became known
as the Sutter Basin Project.

II Early Plans for Reclamation

One of the first suggestions to control overflow into the
Sutter Basin was submitted by State Engineer Hall in 1880.5 He
proposed & By-pass which is an auxiliary passage by which the flow
of water can be deflected. However, nothing was done about this
plan. Then in 1894, 2 similar plan was submitted by engineer
Grunsky of the State Engineer's staff, but again nothing was done.
The state took its first action in 1904 when it engaged IMa jor Dabney
of the U. S. Engineers to come to California and formlate a flood
control plaen for the Sacramento Valley. He made an investigation
into the flood situation and presented what is known &s the Dabney
Report. Major Dabney made no plans for by-passes, but suggested
moving the levees back from the rivers in order to give more channel
ways in time for floods., Dabney's plan was never adopted.



-9 -

The beginning of actuel reclamation of the Sutter Basin came
in 1910 when Captain Thomas H., Jackson appeared upon the scene.
- Jackson wes the head of the California Debris Commission which was
formulati & state-wide flood control plan by construction of
by-passes. The Jackson Plen contemplated the reclametion of the
entire chain of basins along the Sacramento River inecluding the
Sutter Basin.®

The state legislature recognizing the need for drainege in
the Central Valley passed a great emount of drainage legislation
inecluding the creation of a number of drainage and reclamation
districtes. It formed the Sacramento-San Joaquin Dralnage District
to control flood waters of the two rivers and to reclaim and protect
overflow lands.® The plan inecluded reclamation of the Sutter Basin
by & by-pass along the trough of the Basinel0 The plen adopt ed was
thaet of the California Debris Commission. It provided for reclamation
of land which was valued then at twenty dollars psr acrs, and
estimated that when reclaimed it would be worth one hundred fifty
dollars per scre. Land already in use would incri%se in value to
an average value of two hundred dollars per acre. To implement
the plan the %?lifornia legislature in 1913 formed Reclamation
District 1500% . The law provided for private companies to reclaim
the tule lends.,

111, Formation of the Sutter Basin Project

The Sutter Basin was owned by individual farmers and a

syndicate known ss the Alta Valley Farm Lands Company headed by

Ve S. McClatehy of Sacramento, but had sold about sixbty thousand
scres to a group led by W. E. Gerber, & Sacramento banker and J.
Ogden Armour of the Chicago Meat Packing firm, for about twent{-
five dollars an acre while still retaining some of their land. 3
The new syndicate, known as the Sutter Basin Company, now proposed
to reclaim the basin.H

When the application of the Sutter Basin Company for
reclamation of the Sutter Basin came bsfore the Reclamation Board,
mw oblems developed. The originel plans for the by-pass provided
that is follow the trough of the basin, extending south through the
center of the reclaimed ares, masking two reclamation districts, one
on either side. Application was made by the Armour_ Interests under
this plan, but the application was later withdrawn.lS |

At the next meeting of the Reclamation Board, the board
extended invitations to owners of unreclaimed land to meet with the
board to hear the report of the State Engineer and Major Cheney of
the Debris Gammissiagﬁ 8 The report was to be on the sixty thousand
acre Armour project. ‘ .

Meanwhile a report of the Reclamation Board stated that
engineers of the Armour syndicate were working on plans involving
a change of location for the by-pass, but were not yet ready to
present them. It wes also state% that the board had not yet passed
upon the Sutter By-pass project. 8
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inally in March, 1913, before & joint meeting of the Drainage,
Swamp, and Overflow Lands Committees, consideration was glven to the
application mads to the Reclamation Board by the Sutter Basin Cowmpany
to create & reclamation district of seventy thousand acres in the
Sutter Basins The district &s outlined called for moving the by-pass
from the Central location in the trough recommended by the Debrils
Commission to & easberly locatlion recommended by the State engineeralg

The meeting of the Drainage, Swamp, and Overflow Lands
Committee was attended by many interested parties. ILandowners in
the other reclamation dlistricts were opposed to proposal of moving
the By-pasa on the grounds that it was designed to save the Gerber-
Armour firm expense 1n that the district would be in one pisce
instead of two.20

The representatives of District 70 in the Meridian area at
this meeting, stated that his district was in favor of the plan,
but he also stated that the plan would leave unreclaimed a large
portion of the acreage in the north part of the basin and ralse %he
flood plane along Reclamstion District 70 and Levee District 1.2

The report of Major Cheney to the Reclamation Board supported
the statement made by the representative of District 70 concerning
the raising of the flood plane. Major Cheney stated in the report
that moving the By-pass to an e asterly location would ralse the flood
plane to %hr@@ or four feet above the flood plane of the central
location.#2 This raising of the flood plane dumped the entire flow
of the Sacramento Rivgg i§to the Feather River thus creating a flood
danger on this river. (b

Sutter County District Attorney although in favor of reclamation
opposed the bill. District Attormey Schillig stated that he was
opposed to the bill because it would move the leves to an easterly
location. He further stated that he was not opposed to the central
locatione.

Find ly proponents of the projsct were called upon to testify,
Wo E. Gerber offered arguments in favor of the blll. He denied
that the proposal to move the by-pass was motivated by attempts to
- make the people pay for the eastern levee by means of an assessment.
He explained that Sacramento people had invested nine hundred thousand
dollars in the project and that Mr. Armour's corporation intended to
finance the rest of the project. Gerber then explained the reason
for the change in the By-pass location., He said that the eastern
By-pass was chosen because it was recommendsd by the State engineer
because the new location put the proposed district in one unit instead
of two as under the original plans. Gerber ended his arguments by
stating that the enterprise had bought and paid for thiriteen thousand
seven hundred scres which they would never use because the by-pass
would be located on it.24
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Later & hearing was held on this new plan before the
Reclamation Board, land owners in Levee District No. 1 made
stremious objections. The three board members included Peter Cook
of Rio Vista, V.3. McClatchy of Sacramento who was selling the land,
end W, T. Ellis,Jr. of Marysville who was a flood control expsrte
The board considered itself to be more or less a judicial body and
listened to both sides of the controversy and expressed no opinion,
but endeavored to bring out &ll the information that was available.
When the issue of the new location of the by-pass came before the
board for a decision, the vote was two to one in favor of %%@ changs,
MeClatchy and Cook vobting for 1t, W. T. Ellis against it.

After the decision, members of the board tried to explaln their
positions. McClatchy defended his stand by stating that even though
he owned land in the basin he 4id not let it interfere with his
decision. The Marysville Democrat egreed saying:

The chairmen (McClatchy) had full confidence in

his ability to consider the facts intelligently and
reach & just conclusion regardless of his personsl
interest and he notified his partners in land matters
that they must act independe%%ly of him as though he
were in the heart of Africa.

McClatchy continued to explain the reason why he voted the
way he had. He explained there were two classes of protests against
the proposed change. The first type being that of land owners
of districts who do not want to be included in a larger district.
The second type came from land owners of districts who would be
outside the district and who did not want the additional expense
occured by the eastern levee if an assessment was levied upon them
when they would not beneflt by it. He then stated that the
Reclametion Board did not ses suffieie%g reason back of these
protests to lssue & desenting opinion.

After McClatchy had finished giving his reasons why he voted
for the change, W. T. Ellis then gave his reasons for voting agalnst
the proposed change in the location of the by-pass. Ellis explained
that the plen first formulated by the Debris Commission would be
departed from radically if the change were made. He then explained
that the easterly by-pass made the levee longer and thus it did not
afford a rapid runoff of flood water. He further explalned that
this easterly position required that the building of the levees be
higher and stronger and that there would be an additional cost
because of the great amount of silt and debris deposited by _the
slow moving water would have to be cleared away every year.

Following the decision of the Reclamation Board, the
legislature passed the bill permitting the reclamation of the
Sutter Basin as proposed by the Armour interests. With the
passage of the bill, the Sutter Basin Company was ready to make
the final payment of two hundred thousand dollars on the eight
thousend aecres of land that was & part of the Sutter Basin
Reclametion Project. The Alte Valley Farm Company still retained
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two thousand acres. This company which had originally paid one
hundred thousand dollars for its entire holdings, now doubled its
money and still retained acreage,0

With this last purchase of land, the Sutter Basin Company was
ready to begin reclamation in the district. Preliminary engineering
work was started on the moject and dredgers were on their way to
the area to begin throwing up the levees. “"The improvement means
the expenditure of two million five hundred thousand dollars in
Sutter county within the next two or three yearsis

IV The Controversy

As a result of the Reclamation Board's action in approving
the change of location of the by-pass from the central to the
sastern location, the property owners wanted the work stopped until
& definite understanding could be arrived at between them and the
district.32 However, the district went right shead with its
reclamation work despite protests of the land owners. A State
engineer and his crew began & preliminary survey of the reclamation
work.

To finence the project, the Sutter Basin Company began the
sale of two million seven hundred fifty thousand dollars in
collateral trust notes of the company at an interest of six 1 rcent
& year and redeemable at the end of five years. This money was
placed in a fund for the reclamation of the district and for the
construction of the by-pass to drain the upper portions of the
land and to keep overflow waters away from land already reclaimed.o%

Along with the selling of the collateral trust notes, the
Sutter Basin Compeny also obtained = mortgage on its property.
The amount of the mortgage was six million dollars. This was the

largest mortgage to be executed in the county up to this time,.35

Meanwhile, the ranchers who still retained land in the basin,
in November, 1913, were trying to find out from the Reclamstion
Board who was going to bear the ma jor expense of construction of
the levees. The R eclamation Board replied that the construction
of all portions of the by-pass not already underway would be of
general benefit and the cost would be assessed to the entire area
benefited3® according to the procedure set down in the Shinn Bill
which provided that Iland owners in the reclamation distriect on both
sides of the by-pass be assessed for the reclamation work.®

Later that month, land owners of the Sutter Basin along with
A. H. Hewitt, representing District 70, suggested that the
Reclamation Board provide simultaneous construction of both west
and sast levees of the by-pass or compel District 1500 to defer
enclosing its district until the remainder of the by-pass could be
construected in order to prevent the water from backing up into dry
sections of the county. The Reclamstion Board replied that if the
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land owners wanted immedlate construction then it could only be
had through cooperationof the land owners and the reclamstion district.o8

The fight between Sutter County and District 1500 was begun
in earnest in April, 1914, The Board of Supervisors of Sutter County
declded that the county should ask for an injunction against Armour. .
and Company, i prevent it from continuing work on canals in the '”
western part of the county. The decision by the supervisors to try
to obtain en injunction and the granting of it would mean a loss of -
thousands of dollars to the Armour interest.

A temporary restraining order was issued in Mey by Judge Mahon
of Sutter County againat Distriet 1500 and & hearing was set. The
complaint that brought on the issusnce of this order stated that
the proposed east levee would raise the flood plane of the Sutter
Basin. This rise in water level would be diverted by the levee and
the canal it would not discharge into the Sacramento River as was
its custom, but it would be forced into the Feather River eight
mlles above the junction with the Sacramento thus raising the flood
plane of the Feather River and ferce it to overflow and break its
levess. This raising of the Flood Plane would endanger Sutter County
property, the courthouse and hall of records plus thirty thousand
&cres of valuable %and &s well as one hundred miles of roads and
numerous bridgese4

With the issuance of the reatraining order, all the work
in the district came to & stand still.4l

Newspapers maintained that Sutter County was going to press
the sult if a fight was put up by Distriet 1500, 4 compromise was
possible providing the reclamation district would agree to gkac@ the
canal in the center of the distriect as originally intended.%2

When the case came before the court, Judge Emmett Seawell of
Senta Rosa, presided in the place of Judge Mséhon, who had disqualified
himself. Judge Seawell heard aprguments upon the demurrer of the
defendents, and a motion toc strike out certein portions of the
-complaint@ag ‘

The sttorney for District 1500 argued that the county had no
right to resist the enactment of a public statute enacted by the
legislature for the common welfare. He further alledged that the
county had no legal right to be a plaintiff in this action, as the
property in danger was nglic property belonging to the state and
entrusted to the county. Upon coneclusion of the arguments court
was adjourned. The decision was to come eight months later.

The argument for the project was made by the attorney and
the engineer of the district. They contended that the easterly by-
pass location was the better location.
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The District Attorney of Sutter County made the argument
for the county, and contended that the only place for the by-pass
was in the center of the tule basin. He made 1t plain that the
people of Sutter County would be satisfled with nothing but a
change of plans which would locate the by-pass in the center of
the tule basin.46

He alsc contended that if the people of Sutter

County could not induce District 1500 to change

to the central locetion and if the courts or the
legislature could not force District 1500 to do so then as
a matter of justice, District 1500 should not be

® rmitted to close its north levee until some measure

or protection was given to the people to keep the

water from being forced onto their lands,47

After hearing the arguments, the associlation appointed =
cormittee to see 1f they could adjust the differences existing
between the Armour-Gerber people and the land owners of Sutter
County.48 The report given by the committee to the association
stated that the completion of the Sutter Basin Project would add
gseventy thousand scres to the productive land of the county. The
report went further in stating that the project would not only be
of value to the @ountg but also to the state, for the area was only
& swamp at this time, 9

After & complete survey of the project and its value,

the investigators state that unfortunately difficulties

have arisen which effect the work. The only solution of
the contest between the interest behind the project and

the residents and owners of adjacent properties, in the

mind of the booster association probers, is an enginsering
study of the problem to determine which side is correct

in its contention.®

The repcert concluded by recommending that harmony be restored
between the two groups.®

The Reclamation Board had levied three assessments, one for
Two hundred fifty thousand dollers for general purposes, one for
Three hundred sixty seven thousand dollars for the Sacramento
River ocutlet, and the other for One hundred thousand dollars to
cocver the Sacramento River By-pass Project. The Reclamation Board
had also as@.gmed assessors to hear objections to the proposed
assessments, S

When the meeting to hear the objections against the proposed
assessments was opened, the taxpayers of Sutter County volced an
unanimous protest ageinst assessments. "They maintained that such
essessments would be both unreasonable and unjust, and would lmpose
an unwarranted burden upon them."53

The first speaker was District Attorney Schillig. Schillig
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scted s ths spokesmen for District 1. He stated thet Distriet 1
was not a reclamation district but & levee district and that the
p@@plgﬁﬁf this district would receive no benefit from the reclamation
® P

test

He 2laso explained that if the property owners did nof &
7 a

these two assessments then later on they would be agaln 2
with the burden of the building the by-pass.fd

jerele
256

fo
JE688

w

The next psrson to enter & protest was Attorney Arthur Coats
for Districts 777, 1, and $. Atbtorney Coats presented the same
protest thet the District Attorney had entered except that Coats
guasstioned the police power of the board snd 1tz rights in that
respect .56

District 1001 along the Bear River was represented at ths
meeting by Judge T. J. Mulvaney who stated that the sssessment would
impose & heavy burden on the people of his dig%ri@%@ "He termed
the r oposed assessment 'downright robbery'”. ‘

Another protestant from Distriet 1001, o member of the Monitor
gun Club, sald "the scheme was to benefit Sacramento at the expense
of the other counties, and despite the fact that he had property in
Sacramento he desired to protest against 1%t."58

After all the protests had been entered, it was asked that all
those in attendance who were opposed to the gropoa&d assessments to
stand and every merson in ths room stood ups o

To help in the fight eagainst Reclamation District 1500, the
taxpayers of Levee Diatrict 1 formed a Taxpayers League. The league
wes opposed to any further constructl on work belng done., It was
also opposed to the levylng of the assessment against the dlstrict.80

Soon &fter the Taxpayers League was formed, the taxpayers of
Sutter County headed by Supervisor Samuel Gray filed another suilt
against District 18500. The suit was for the purpose of enjoining
®"The sction wes taken as the result of the intimation of Judge Seawell
of Sante Rosa that the county could not enjoin the distg%ct from
building the levee, as it was authorized by the state.”

Attorneys for the Armour Project, Devlin and Huston, tried %o
get Judge Seawell to modify the injunction issued ageinst the district
by the @guntye The request for the modification was denied by Judge
Seawelle

An emendment was passed that gave the Reclamation Board more
power., In November 1914 elections an amendment was passed which
gave the state the power to govern the reclamation districts instead
of the pecple of the warious districts.63

The Reclametion Board, which was given the powsr to govern all
reclamation districts with the passage of the amendment, had begun
its setivities. The board notified all propsrty owners between the
Sutter Basin and Chandler Station that the east levee of the By-pass
mist be comstructed by them. The land owners in this district had
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fought the Reclamation Board on this point for they believed that
the pr omoters of the project should have done the construction work, %4

Taxpayers of Sutter County were Jubilant over the news that
Judge Seawell had arrived at a decision in the case of Sutter County
vse. Reclemation District 1500 favorable to the county. The decision
upheld the issuance of the injunction against the district and
overruled the demurrer.of the district which would have delayed
the issuance of the injunction.65

. Attorney Huston, one of the attorneys of the district, stated
hat:

It (the trial) was simply a mere skirmish, We will
g0 right ahead with the case. The issue which was
determined by the overruling of the demurrer was in
regards to the right of the county to take action.
The real issue which will now be determined is with
regard to the right of the district to meintaln the
levees .66

A special committee was appointed by the Taxpayers League to
tour the Sutter Basin. The committee composed of legislators,
engineers, attorneys, and prominent cltizens, toured the district
very thoroughly and paid close attention to the work being done
there, "Particular cognizance was taken of the facts at hand with
regard to the controversy over the construction of a levee which
i1s now in the ecourts,™s

Representatives of both factions, appeared before a
legislative committee. The representatives of the county and the
Armour interests argued the pro and con of the Sutter Basin Project .68

The contention that the Sutter Basin Company should be allowed
to proceed with the work was presented by the Armour interest. "They
declared that the action of the citizens of Sutter in refusing to
mrmit them to proceed with their reclamstion project was impedin§
the progress of the county as well as hampering their operations."69

Remr esentatives of the county again contended that the building
of the east levee would force the water back and thus flood much
valuable land. They also objected to the assgasments to cover the
cost of the work being done in District 1500,

Land owners in the Sutter Basin did not feel the same way
about the reclamation project as the other property owners of the
county did, They stated that the pendlng litigation over the
construction of the levee was causing reclamation work to be
gseriously delayed. They further stated that it now meant that
the work must be delayed a year because of litigation. "Ranchers
of the distriet regret that the moject has been tied up because
they state that it should hsve been ready for crops this season,
which will not be impossible."71



River water flowing into
By-Pass at Tisdale Weir
January 10,1965
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The Sutter Basin Company answered the charges made by the
county in @& couple of newspaper articles titled, "Sutter Basin
Development Talks". After again presenting arguments for the
project, the company added that in any other state it would be =
erime to allow a large body of lend like the Sutter Basin to remain
unclaimed, It claimed that the state had decided to reclaim every
acre of swamp land and hed invited private capital to do the work.
Moreover, the company had been obliged to alger its proposed plen to
meet requirements of the Reclemation Board.?

The Stete did not fit its plans for the benefit

of District 1500, but compelled No., 1500 to incur
congiderable extra expense by taking in a large

portion of the Basin near the Tisdals By-pass, and
to surrender many of its best land in the lower end

of the district in ordepr to properly harmonize with

the flood control plan.’d ~

The first m rticle ended by stating that progress could
better be attained through unity of action.74

In another article the company stated that District 1 should
have bullt the esst levee as it was instructed to do by the State
Reclamation Board. However, instead of building the east leves it
sought to hamper the company's work by involving it in a law suit
for the benefit of a few dissatisfied land owners who were blocking
the wheels of progress. The trustees explained that District 1500
was doing no more than Distriet 1 had done when it built up its
levees to hold back the water from its lands and let the water go
where it may. It concluded that the east levee would be built
eventuel 1y and that the people fighting the plan should stop
fighting the district and cooperate with a plan for reclemation
that would prove to be the best for 211 concerned.’5

To answer these statements mede by the Board of Trustees,
the County Board of Supervisors authorized the issuance of pamphlets
that denied certain facts contained in these articles. The pramphlets
also contained arguments showing why certain bills should not be
passed by the legislature.’® These arguments were the same ones
that had been presented before,

Ve The protesats

To protest this pending legislation which could create another
reclamation district and give the power of appointment of district
trustees to the governor instead of the Board of Supervisors and
other legislation which would limit the control of the county over
the reclamation district and Reclamation District 1500 as contemplated
by Armour, & meeting was held by Sutter County residents. A resclution
condemning the present plans for the formation of District 1500 was
adopted and signed by every land owner present.??
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Chairman Gray, in opening the meeting, said that

the promoters of District 1500 were experimenting

at the expense of Sutter County, and to illustrate

his argument he cited that the proposed by-pass would
not carry the water of the Feather and Sacramento Rivers
which would result in havoc to the present prosperous
commmnities of Sutter Countye.

Attorney Lawrence Schillig was the next speaker
and he said the press of the state and especially of
Sacramento had been holding the people of Sutter County
up to ridicule.

Schillig went on to say that the eastern
capitalist began to buy up this land and all at once
the location of the by-pass was dhanged.78

He went further in steting that the people of Sutter county
did not mind the Armour m ople reclaiming the lands of Subter
County if they did it 1n a proper manner .’ o

Schillig then spoke on the bllls that were pending before
the legislature. He sald that they were designed to prevent the
people ofagutter County from bringing = lawsult to protect their
propertye.

At the close of the meeting, Attorney Carlin called for the
people outside_the county to help Sutter County in its fight against
District 150081

Tn enswer to this call, the Butte County Board of Supervisors
endorsed the stand taken by Sutter Countye

To protest the pending legislation a meeting was held in
Merysville. All the business houses in Marysville were closed so
that all the people interested in Sutter Basin Project could attend
the protest meeting against District 1500.83 An invitation to attend
the protest meeting was extended to Governgr Hiram Johnson and the
State Reclamation Board but both declined.B4

If there is any doubt in the minds of the backers

of the Armour project, better known as Reclamation District
1500, that the opposition was confined to a handful of
Sutter County farmers, this doubt was removed when
Foresters! Hall was packed with men and women from Sutter
and Yube Counties as well as from Butte and Yolo Counties .89

W. M. Brow, President of the Merchants and Employers Assbeiation
of Marysville and Yuba City, opened the meeting by stating that the
Association was ready to lend its support against the Armour interest
in the Basin.86

In his opening remarks A. C. Bingham of the Decker-Jewett
Bank, who was presiding over the meeting, stated that the action of
the Armour interests in attempting to force the program upon the
people wag in deflance of all constitutional rights, both state and
federale.



- 12 -

He explsined that this meeting was called to ask the governor
end the state legislature to permit no bill to pass that will deprive
the people the right to protect their land in a court of law. He
then clarified hils statement by saying that the people did not want
to oppose & single bill that would not damage them but they were &
here to protest that which would damage them. He then stated that
no section had put up more money and a_harder fight then Yuba and
Sutter Counties for river improvement.

Bingham then went on to say that the people deplored the action
of the Reclamation Board when it voted two to one to change the
location of the By-pass. He stated that the Board should have
1istened to W, T. Ellis, who was the desenting vote in this matter.89

Judge Mahon was the next person called upon to speak. Judge
Mahon stated that had it not been for the injunction issued against
the Armour people all of Sutter County east of the By-pass would
now be a basin including Yuba City. He went further in saying that
the members of the State Reclamation Board who voted for the change
did not know anything about the project. He stated that the man who
knew about the project voted agalnst the change and that man was El1is.%0
W. T. Ellis was the next speaker at the meeting. Ellis said
just the opposite of what everybody thought he was golng to saye.

Tn referring to the charge that hed been made previously
that the change of location of the By-pass had been caused
by the Armour interests, (Ellis) the speaker sald:

The change was made upon the recommendation of the state
engineer that the eastern location was better then the
central. He defended the actlon of McClatchy and Cook,
the other two members of the board at the time,91

Attorney Schillig, however, said that while the change in the -
By-pass came from the state enginsers office, the suggestion came
from the Armour interests. "!I remember that Mr. Gerber made the
statement to the State Reclamation Board,! said Schillig, fthat if
the eastern By-pass was not adopted that eastern capltal would not
come into the state. I was there and Mr, Ellis was there. This
was before January, 1913".92

Senator Duncan, the area's state senator, was in attendance
and was asked to make a few remarkse. -

T have made a careful study of the matter and I think
Sutter County is right. I think those bllls that are
now pending before the state legislature are "rotten"
and to use the glang phrase, "I am going to bat for
Sutter County",93

Several weeks after the protest meeting the Yolo County
Board of Supervisors announced that it had passed a regolution
urging the leglslature to defeat the reclamation measures which
affect Sutter County in its fight against the Armour interests, s
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Meanwhile & hearing on the pending bills was held before s
Joint meeting of the Legislative Committee on Drainage, Overflow
and Swamplands, arguments were presented by both sides. The meeting
opened with a presentation of the arguments by the Reclamation
Board and the Sutter Basin Company.99 The arguments given by these
two groups were the same as first glven by the board when it ordered
the change in the By-pass. Sutter County did not get a chance to
glve its arguments at this meeting.

Citizens of Sutter County journeyed to Sacramento
last night and again appeared before the legislative
committee on drainage, overflow and swamplands, with
the result that the solons were further convinced of
the fact that to place the By-pass on the east side
would be disasterous to the county,

W. To Ellis spoke at the meeting before the committee and
offered arguments in favor of Sutter County's protests. He stated
that he still believed that the shifting of the By-pass from the
central location to the eastern location was 2 mistake and that
even the central location was experimental, 7

Only two out of the seven proposed bills passed the legislature.
One of the bills that passed created District 1660. The other bill
that passed amended the act creating District 1500,98

The passing of only favorable bills was considered to be a
victory for Sutter County, but this vietory was not to last for long
for the attorneys for District 1500 filed notice in the superior
court that they would have an order made dismissing the action
against the district,99

When the motion came up before Judge Seawell for the dismissal
of the action against the district, Judge Seawell listened to the
erguments from both sides and then set a date for the trisal.

In giving his decision he stated that there had been
no new evidence introduced since the previous hearing
of the case and cited his authorities for his stand at
the time of granting the injunction. The status of the
case has not changed according to the Judge.

While this legal bgttle was going on, the dredgers were working
on the easterly levee of the By-pass and were starting to cut through
the south levee of District 1. The work in this section could not
proceed much farther for not 8ll the rights of way have been obtained
and the injunction will also prevent any further buildings.

Reclamation Distriect 1500 filed a petition with the State
Supreme Court for a peremptory writ of prohibition against the
superior court of Sutter County, for the purpose of preventing it
from proceeding with the trial of the county against the district.
If the petition was gganted it would mean that the restraining order
would be dissolved,l The petition did not apply to the case of
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the property owners against the district where there was no writ
of prohibition asked. The trial was set for August of 1915, but
1t was held in September .83

VIi. The Samuel Gray Case

On September 3, 1915, the first round of the legal battle
in the case of Samuel Gray vs. District 1500 began.

An entire day was consumed by the examination and cross-
examination of Engineer Von Geldern, witness for the plaintiffs.
He stated that the building of the proposed levees would %%Xert
the water and flood areas that were never flooded before.

The witness was then questioned closely by Attorney Delvin,
for the defense. Attorney Devlin asked if the Ie vees of District 1
were strong enough and Von Geldern sald that they were at this
time. Then Attorney Devlin asked:

If you were engineer for the district would you
recommend any improvements in them (the levees).
Yes, replied ¥on Geldern, I would recommend that
they be strengthened %8 some points and that a cutb
be made at Star Bend.1l0°

The first witness for the defense was a Sutter County rancher.
He stated that the construction of the leves of District 1500 would
benefit him greatly for it would keep the water off his land the
year around. He explained that with the levee he could grow crops
from May to November. This statemeniogroused gsharp remarks from
ranchers who were in the court room.

While this legal battle was still in @ ogress District 1500
had another legal bgttle to face them when the Sutter Drainage
District through its lawyer, A. H. Hewitt, filed sult in the
superior court to enjoin the district from gonstructing a leves
across the outlet of the Yuba City slough.l 7

Before the tr ial was resumed in the case of Samuel Gray vs.
District 1500, Judge Seawell inspected District 1500 in order to
acquaint himself with 1t., He was accompanied by Engineer Von
Geldern and Engineer Randle, of District 1500, Randle pointed out
to the Juigg the measures that the district had taken to prevent
backwashe

When the trial was resumed, Judge Seawell heard arguments
for the defense and the plaintiffs. Attorney Devlin argued that
the court had no right to enjoin public work preformed by public
officers, Attorney Carlin, sttorney for the plaintiffs, argued
that 1f the J vee were bullt great damage would occur because of
high water. Attorney Devlin retorted by stating that the plaintiffs
property was mi%es away from the levee and no water could possibly
reach the area.l09
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The arguments were then concluded and the case went to
Judge Seawell for consideration.

The people of Sutter County may be compelled to
walt for two months or more before they will know
whether or not Reclamation District 1500 will be

pe rmitted to erect its levees as moposed or whether
they wi%l be enjoined from doing so by order of the
courtet

While the people of Sutter County were walting for the
court's decision, the State Reclamation Board decided to let
District 1500 construct the three mile stretch of levee on the
east side of the By-pass in District 1. The Reclamation Board,
according to the Sacramento Union, was led to believe that ?&e
east levee would be a distinct advantage to Sutter Countyol

It is simply a move on the part of the Armours

- to have another alleged reason why the location
of the By-pass should remain on the east side, say
lawyers for Sutter County. The order of thse
Reclemation Board will, 1t is said, bring the matter
to & head, It is said this order indicated determination
of the state to push the fight for construction of the
Sutter_ By-pass and to stand by the whole flood control
planollz

Then in November 1915, before Judge Seawell had rendered a
decision in the case of Samuel Gray vs. District 1500, ancther
sult was filed before him against Reclamation District 1500 by
Eunice J. Proper. The reasons for the sult were the same &s
those given in the sult filed eii%ier by the Sutter Dralnage
District against District 1500,

While these legal battles were going on, the state
legislature amended the acts of 1911 and 1913, to provide for
the or%anization, the powers and the duties of the Reclamation
Board.

The State Supreme Court, in the case of Sutter County vse.
District 1500, rendered its decision in favor of the Reclamation
District. Thilis decision was not believed by the people to be a
defeat for the county, for they believed this gefeat would presage
a favorable decision in the Samuel Gray cage, The final decision
in the Samuel Greay case would determine the future salvation of
the countg, according to an editorial that sppeared in the Marysville
Appeal.ll

VII. The Eunice J. Proper Case
The answer filed by the Attorneys for the district in the

Eunice Proper case had many denials in answer to the charges filled
against the district. The answer stated that the Yuba City Slough
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was not & defined waterway and had.no bed or banks. The attorneys
concluded by saying that if any damage should be done to property

by the construction of the levee, then the district would pay for

the damage,ll7 :

The first witness to be called in the FEunice Proper case was
Engineer Von Geldern. He told of the dangers which would confront
the plaintiff if the levee was constructed.

E. E. Proper, a son of the plaintiffs, took the stand next.
He was questloned as to the general conditions in the nelighborhood
of the Proper holdings. He was then questioned on how much he knew
of the facts in the Gray case. The witness said he knew nothing
about the case.l18

The question was put to Mrs. Promr when she took the stand
and an admission was gained that she was aYige of the facts and was
interested in the prosecution of the case.

Acting on this information Attorney Devlin asserted
to the court that it was plain that the plaintiff
intended to unduly harrass the district in carrying

out its work by the filing of the present suit
covering virtually the same grounds as cited in the
Gray case.l120

The next important person to take the stand was George
Randle, Chlef Engineer for the District. Randle stated that more
then $2,000,000 has been spent by the district in its reclamation
work., Randle asserted that of this sum $700,000 had been spent
on the construction of the east leves, Other items included in
the sum were the pumping plant, and other levees of the district.
"He also declared that in his estimation about fifty percent or more
of the m oject had been completed,"l2l

After the witness for the defense had completed their testimony,
Attorney Robert Devlin stated that the interest of the palintiff
was merged with those of the Sutter Drainage District.

Attorney Devlin explained that as Mrs. Proper granted
the Sutter Drainage District a right of way through
her property she in this manner became included in the
district and surrendered her rights with regard to
drainage matters to the district.Lle2

After the taking of testimony in this case, Judge Seawell
handed down & decision in the case of the Sutter Drainage District
vs. Reclamation District 1500. He sustained a demurrer of the
defendants in the case., This action threw the case out of court.le3
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Because of the decision handed down by the Supreme Court in
the Sutter County case, the work was continuing on the east levee.
The work was being done by three dredgers and a steam shovel at the
north end of the district,l24

To show Just what the situation was and to help build good
wlll between the people of the county and the Sutter Basin Company,
George F. Maddock, General Manager of the company discussed the
project with local citizens. He stated that the company did not
want to be vindictive. Maddock said that the company and Sutter
County were both loesing time and money by not agreeing.125

"We want harmony" Maddock emphasized at several points,.
His talk was sane and sensible, he placed the entire
matter before the citizens with whom he conversed in a
business-like manner. One of his remarks was that "Mr.
Armour 1s not a big pig, grabbing everything, but a
gentleman who is liberal in every sense of the word,"126

Judge Seawell rendered his decision in the Samuel Gray case
in March 1916, His decision was in favor of the county. By the
issuance of this decision the company was enjoined from doing work
on the east and north levees. The dredgers that have been working
on the levees would have to be moved pending the outcome of an
appeallgsing made by the Sutter Basin Company to the State Supreme
Court.,

There was & continued movement of dredgers out of the Sutter
Basin. Only two dredgers were left in the basin and they would
be moved as soon as water conditions are favorable. The Sutter
Independent and the Marysville Aggeal differ on the number of
dredges that were in the Sutfer Basin, but they both agree on how
many dredges were left in the basin. The Aggeal stated that there
were nine dredgers removed from the bagin, which made a total of
eleven dredgers at work on the basin.l28 "While the Sutter Independent
itated there were thirteen dredgers at work on the north and east

evee.

To ‘better understand the situation in the Sutter Bagin,
Governor Hirem Johnson, accompanied by W. T. Ellis and several
associates, made a surprise visit to the Reclamation District.
The Governor did not comment on the work being done, but Ellis
stated that the Governor was well pleased with the trip,l30

The trip came out of a discussion between Governor Johnson
and rep esentatives of Yuba and Sutter Counties for the purpose
of urging the Governor to_use his influence in settling any fubure
dispute that might arise,l3l

VIII, Efforts To End The Controversy
The representatives of the Armour interests believe that the

prospect of arriving at a compromise between the contending m@mrties
was fruitless,.i32
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The company alsoc stated that the appeal of the case would be
& costly one to the Armour interests. For the construction of the
levees will be held up at least eight months, for the Supreme Court
will not be able to hear the case until then.l33

From the feeling on the part of the Armour people

and the Sutter County interests, it is not believed
any settlement will be reached and that the only thing
to do is to walt for the decision of the State Supreme
Court,+34

Jo He Dockweller, a Consulting Engineer remw esenting Congress-
men Kent, of this district, was sent to Sutter County to survey the
situation and report his findings.

The report made by Dockweiler stated that :"!From a thorough
study of the whole situation with regard to safety cost and expediency,
I find the evidence stro§§ly in favor of completing the By-pass on
the eastern locationt?!." 135

In rebuttal to this report, W. T. Ellis stated that Dockweiler
made no new investigation of the situation and that Dockweiler only
went over the reports of the proponents and the opponents of the
By-pass location,

Ellis further stated that every englneer who favored the
central location of the By-pass had practical experience and years
of close observation of floods in the Sutter Basin, while those that
favored the eastern location did not. Ellis backed up this statement
by referring to the report made by the Debris Commission which
Tfavored the central location originally,l37

Ellis ended the rebuttal by stating that Dockweiler viewed
the situation solely from the benefits that would asccrue to District
1500 and closed his eyes to the damage that would be done to land
owners living on high ground,138

Louis Tarke, Assemblymen, from Sutter County, introduced
legislation in Pebruary 1917, which would uphold Judge Seawell's
decision in the Sutter Basin case, rreventing the placement of levees
that would back up or obstruct the flow of water. The bill would
confirm the decision of the lower court, over the decision of the
higher court.l39

The Supreme Court in March of 1917 reversed the decision of
Judge Seawell in the cases of Funice Proper and Samuel Gray vs.
District 1500 in a decision handed down by Justice Henshaw., The
decision upheld the acts creating the reclamation board and the
legislation to reclaim flooded Sacramento Valley land.
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The court held that construction of such levees
as prt of a general state policy under the
Reclamation Act came within the scope of the
police powers of the state and the nation and

the occupants of lands temporarily demaged could
not obtain damages.,

At a mass meeting held in Sutter County, speaskers expressed
themselves to be in favor of the Tarke Bill which would move the
By-pass to the center of the tule basin. All of the speakers at
the meeting expressed one essential idea and that was how the
people of Sutter Countg had been wronged by the Reclamation Bosard
and the Supreme Court.i4l

In order to show the legislators what was going on in
the Sutter Basin, several groups of them were taken through the
basin and the By-pass and shown the r ight and wrong of the Sutter
Basin Project.l42 Most of the legislators did not know anything
about the project.l43 ,

The people of Sutter County believed that the Tarke Bill
would pass the legislature because it came out of the committee
with a favorable recommendation.l44 But the Tarke Bill was defeated
in the Assembly by a vote of 43 to 27,145

Now that District 1500 has won 1ts court cases, it was ready
to resume work on the east levee of the By-pass. The district had
made a request to the Reclamation Board to begin construction on
the east levee, from the south leves of District 1 to Nelson Bend.,
"It 1s estimated that this stretch of levee will cost approximately
;30,000 per mile", 146  Work had been levied in sn assessment of
$14,933,190 called assessment No. 6.147

The action was taken in the interest of those lands in the
basin which would be inundated i1f the reclametion of District 1500
was finished before the construction of the east levee of the By-passe.
District 1500 had nearly completed its east levee. "The board's
action had one vote against it - that of W, T. Fllis of Marysville™148

To begin the needed reclamation work within the district, the
Sutter Basin Company completed one of the largest pumping plants that
had been installed up to that time. The pleant would mrotect 66,000
acres from the flood waters of the Feather and Sacramento Rivers,l49
This gigantic pumping plant consists of six 50 inch pumps, each operated
by a 800 horse-power motor, and with a capacity of 400,000 gallons
rer minute,150

To carry off the water, a drainage system was bullt. This
system lincludes a main canal 18 miles long, 54? miles of lateral
canals, and 190 miles of sub-lateral cnanls.}

In January of 1918, the State Reclamation Board reached a
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decigsion for the completion of the Sutter By-pass assessment@152

Land owners in District 108, on the west side of the river,
were not protesting the work being done on the By-pass for they
feared that if the water would be pushed back on them. The distriet
hes employed Senator Hiram Johnson and two others as its attorneys.
The appearance of Senator Johnson, in connection with this protest,
was quite a surprise to the Reclamation Board. For it wes Governor
Johnson who urged the adoption of a flood control measure and
sponsored 1t until it won ai% its battles, before the legislature,
the courts, and the public,+°9

The Reclamation Board was surs that Senator Johnson had been
misled for only recently he smnounced that he opposed any proceedingg
that would hamper the @ oject or the work of the Reclamation Board, to4

The Sutter County Board of Supervisors appointed E. W. Stanton
to replace A. A. MeCrae &s 2 commissioner to sassess Distriet 1500
along with Green and Von Geldern,il55 -

In January of 1919, in an attempt to end the controversy, &
bill was introduced into the legislature that moposed that $300,000
be appropriated for the construction of the east leves of the By=-pass.156

During the discussion on the bill Senator Duncen charscterized
the bill as a measure for state finsnce of a private enterprise.

The people of Sutter County above the By-pass get no benefit
from this project he said. They are asked to pay for the
construction of levees which 2id J. 0. Armour and associated
owners of the Sutter Basin property.

Melvin Dozler, Jrs, genersl manager of the State Reclamation
Board said he resented the intimation the board had been
interested in aiding the Armour interests and challenﬁed a
thorough investigation into the dealings with Armour.i57

The Assembly.Committee:-approved the bill providing that the
state buy warrants of the Sacramento and San Joaguin Reclamation
District aggregating $300,000 to assure construction work on the
eest levee of the by-pass. While at the same time the State
Reclamation Board's assessment of $10,590 000 for the work was
opposed by the residents of Distriot 1,108

Residents of District 1 had decided to fight the assessment.
At 2 meeting of the Sutter County Taxpayers Protective Asmociation,
it was decided to employ Attorneys Lawrence Sehillig, A, H. Hewitt,
and District Attorney Coats to represent them and to carry on the
legal fight that was to be waged against assessment No., 6 of the
Reclamation Board.l59

An attorney would be hired to re-try the case where the
injunctions were brought to restrain the Reclamation Board from building
the levees. It was the purpose of the association to carry the cases
thro%ég the courts, up to the Supreme Court if necessary, until they
WCIle ’
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The Reclamation Board appointed two assessors to hear protests
against the assessment. There were five hundred land owners at the
protest meeting.

At the meeting the County Surveyor was called upon to speak
-and he stated that if the levees broke Sutter County would be flooded,
This bore out the contention that Sutter County was to be damaged
rather than benefited from the moject.l6l

Attorney Schillig was the next speaker to enter a pr otest.
He to1ld how Sutter county land owners had constantly received in-
Justice from the Reclamation Board and the legislature. "He insinuated
that only an anarchistic frame of mind could result from continually
obtaining the small end of the bargain at the hand of moneyed interest."
When the attorneys for the Reclamation Board protestid the remarks of
Attorney Schillig, he received hisses and cat calls.i6?

Sutter County was flooded in February of 1919, including the
entire lower and western end of District 1, The rich farmlands
before never knowing such high water were inundated while the Armour
interests in District 1500 were high and dry.l1l63

Assemblyman Poisly, from the southern part of the state, came
to Sutter County and viewed the flooded area, He stated:

The flood damage to Sutter County as a result of

the bullding of the levees around the Armour Reclamation
project (District 1500) it is estimated will cause a
loss of at least $1,000,000 to Sutter County farmers.l64

Sutter County farmers blamed the Reclamation Board for the
flooding of Sutter County. They blamed the board because it allowed
the west levee of District 1500 to be constructed before the east
levee was closed.165

About this same time a very interesting thing hsppened. W,
T. El1l1s, who originally voted against the eastern location of the
- levee changed his attitude. He stated that since the Reclamation
Board and the building of the levee had been within the law and there
had been so much money spent on the project that he was going to do
all he could to help the construction,l66

Then 1n March of 1919, the state suffered a delay in its program,
State Controller Chambers refused to pay on the $3,000,000 warrant.
The reason he gave for refusing to pay was that it was not clear
whether the act under which the warrant was issued was legal or not.l67

Remresentatives of the Sacramentd-San Joaquin Drainage District
met in Sacramento to discuss the matter of reclamation, taxation and
District 1500 in particular. They voted to fight for the abandonment
of the Sutter Basin Project and the return of the waters to the
central levee location. They also demanded that the $10, 600,000
assessment levied for the project be pald by the Armour people,168
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While all these delays were being put forth, the Sutter County
Grend Jury made en investigation into the causes as well as the
responsibility for the flood., The report filed by the Grand Jury
"placed the blame for the flood upon fai lure of the reclamation anrd
to protect the property in the county as it was required to do..69

The Third District Court of Appeals declared the measure passed
at the first half of the legislative session constitutional. This
measure was the one that authorized the appropriation of $300,000 for
the completion of the east levee of the By-pass.l?0

Then in April of 1919, compromise bills were introduced to
the leglislature to end the controversy over the Sutter By-pass. One
bill proposed state aid for completing the east levee and provided
a plan of assessing the cost of completing the flood and drainage
projects. The other bill proposes to spread the payments_on the total
assessment of $10,500,000 over a period of forty years.17

Sometime before the end of the summer the sale of large areas
of land reclaimed in the Sutter Basin began., No Japanese or other
Orientals would be allowed to purchase any land in the Sutter Basin,
Owners of the district have decided to sell only to American c itizens
or to persons who have become such.l72

The company'!s property would have lrrigation ditches to every
160 acres by the end of the summer. Among the properties to be opened
in the tract were the ones on which Armour had spent $9,000,000, first
in reclamation then in irrigation workse.

The matter of the By-pass was settled as far as the policy of
bullding it was concerned. If was settled by the passage and the '
signing of the by-pass billls by Governor Stephens in May, 1919. All
persons concerned in the matter including Sutter county farmers had
petitioned the Governor to sign the bills and when the Governor signed
the bills all were in harmony over the settlement of affairs.i’4

In June 1919, the assessment of District 1500 was completed by
assessment commissioners Green, Stanton, and .Von Geldern. It was
presumed to be the b rgest asgessment ever placed upon a reclamation
district in the state. The assessment was for $5,000,000 and was placed
upon 67,844.1 acres of land in the basin by the assessors.

The Reclamation Board called upon the fourteen counties
Protective Assoclation to send representatives to a conference to
consider ways of financing completion of the east levee. Cost of the
levee would be more than $2,000,000. To complete the levee the board
had to make concessions in connection with the acceptance of warrants
in payment for the work.176 The reason for these concessions was that
bldders on the work refuse to take the district warrants at mr value
for there was no definite recall date on_them and the interest was
pald only on redemption of the warrants.



IXe After the Controversy

Owners of the land in the Sutter Basin were convinced that
surface irrigation would pay. The irrigation system was put into
effect and used for the first time in 1919.178 "The main pumping plant
was installed at a cost of approxlimately $250,000 to irrigate sixty
thousand acres of land.l7® The pumping plant consists of thres 45-imch
pumps, each operated by a £250-horsepower motor and with a capacity of
48,000 gallons per minute, and three 42-inch pumps, each operated by
& 300-horgepower motor and with a capacity of 56,000 gallons ®r
minute, the total capacity of the plant being 312,000 gallons rer
minute. There were alsc two auxiliary pumping plants, one at State
Ranch Bend and another at Portuguese Bend. All_the water for +he
project was pumped out of the Sacramento River,

George Maddock, explained how far the project was mrogressing
as of July 1, 1919, stated that negotiations were under way with
various tenants to buy land. He explained that the company had not
set a price on the land as yet for the price was to be in proportion
to the earning power of the land. "Maddock made it clear the Sutter
Basin lands will not be placed in the hands of agents.lSl

The Sutter Basin Company in order to effectively resist the
pressure of the flood waters was "rip-rapping" a portion of the west
levee of the ?g&pass. This consisted of placing stones on the sides
of the levee,+82

G. Fo Maddock, General Manager of the Sutter Basin Company,
told the Yuba City Chamber of Commerce about the reclamation work
being done in District 1500, He asked for the cooperation of the
people of Sutter county, declaring as a result of the project there
would be 25,000 added to the population of the county and its income
will be increased approximately $10,000,000,

Maddock went further in saying that 60,000 fertile acres would
be added to the county and that the irrigation system would bring
water to every quarter section of land in the project.+83

The plan of the company is to colonize the landg,
sald Maddock, by subdividing the projeet into

ferms of 60 acres. This plan he declared would

bring 1,000 new families to the district.

He said that there would be at least one "communi ty
center™ of possibly six thousand population, with
canning factories, plenning mills, box factories

and other industrial plants to grovide the needs

and materials for the farmers.i84

Thus we come to the end of the Sutter Basin controversy but
this 1s not the end of the story. Now let us Jump from 1919 to the
middle of the 1920's and see how the Armour enterprise was coming
along with its colonization of the Sutter Basin. ,

But before looking at the Sutter Basin note that settlers of
irrigated farms cannot move on to them and develop them as the settlers
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in the prairie states did. It often costs as much as $75 to $100
P r acre to prepare an irrigated farm to take water. The cost of
irrigation equipment adds $30 to $100 more per acre.1l85

Now attention must begin to the Sutter Basin project. In 1927
Jo Ogden Armour forcasted an era of e rmanent property for the
Bacramento Val ley.

"In the Sacramento Valley there is a decided trend
toward buying land as an investment, " Armour said. "In
fact inquiries concérning Sacramento Valley are
inereasing in all quarters of thi gountry, particularly,
however, in Southerh Celifornia.+® ‘

To begin the colonization of the Sutter Basin, Armour concluded
negotiations whereby a large concern would colonize the project.
This marks the beginning of a big land campaign whereby 4? 000 acres
of leand would be for sale for thirty six million dollars. &7

The hegdquarters for the colonization undertaking was Sacramento.
From this point conducted tours were made of the basin and the
surroundinpg communities. Besides the headquarters in Sacramento,
the compeny also maintained headquarters in the basin at i1ts new
townsite of Robbins,188

In order to bring prospective colonizers to the Sutter Basin
project, special trains were chartered from all parts of the country.189
The colonization project was to be a big thing in bringing new settlers
to Sutter County. The locatiss in the basin to be colonized was then
known as Sunny Valley Farms.

Then in 1928, disaster struck at the Sutter Basin Company ,

- for the postwar collapse in land values wrecked the whole scheme., So
the organization of a new company to take over the project was planned.
Under the reorganization plan, the new company would take over the
lands and thi Yarrants which Armour had pledged to s ecure the companies
obligations,t?

X. Conclusion

In concluding this paper, the first thing to be evaluated is
whether the prophecy of floods occurring every year came true. The
only flood that did occur was the one that happened in 1919, When
the 1956 flood occurred, the By-pass proved itself by helping to
carry the waters of the Sacramento River.

The next thing to be considered is just how fair the Sutter
County Grand Jury was in blaming the Reclamation Board for the flooding
of Sutter County in 1919. The flood of 1919 cannot be blamed entirely
on reclamation board for it was not the boards fault that the work was
delayed but the fault of the people of the county by trying to institmte

lawsuits against the reclamation district.,



- 25 -

The final item to be considered is just what was the main issue
in this controversy. Was the main issue the flooding of the county
or the assessment that would be put upon the county for the buillding
of the levees. The assessment it seems was the real issue all the
time for 1t was present from the very beglnning of the controversy.
The issue of the flood of the county did not come up until the farmers
started making it an issue for there was not the real danger of floods
that they had mredicted but there was the assessment and it was real
while the floods were just speculation.

APPENDIX. An Interview with Mr. C. B. Kelly
of 349-39 Street, Sacramento, California

The basin was originally a tule bogue full of bull frogs.
After the bill creating the district passed the leglislature, the west
levee of the By-pass was built. Thls levee was built before the east
levee thus pushing the water back.

Legislators were brought to the county to look over ths east
levee of the By-pass. Not many of the leglslators came, must of those
that came were adjuncts.

The farmers ended up paying for the east levee after the west
levee was built by the Armours. When the assessment for the east
levee was levied enly a few of the people in the district had enough
money to see themselves through the crises while most of the people
lost their land., But & lot of farmers land was saved by & Mr. Schraz,
a financier from Chicago. The assessment was also serious to the
people outside the dlstrict, for land worth $50 an acre was assessed
at $100 per acre.

Q. How were the people of Sutter being ridiculed by the press
of the state and especially of Sacramento?

A, The Sacramento Bee was for reclamation and McClatchy's
editorials could be vicious at times,

Qe Did these suits impede the progress of the county as the
Armour interest contended they did?

A, No, it was not, for this area at that time was sheep
country. The progress of the county did not depend on this region
except along the river, but the people of the county could not wvision
what the land would be worth in 50 years.

Qs What happened to Gerber after Armour went broke?
A, Gerber was in the banking business in Sacramento and the
bank owned by Gerber went under in 1932,

Only after the depression days did the basin come into its own,
but it was difficult on everybody particularly on those in the basin.

The owners of the Basin tried to grow cotton in the Basin but
because of the climate the. experiment failed,
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_ At first people thought that the By-pass was a bad thing
but after 50 years and three different corporations it has turned
out to be pretty good but & lot of people got hurt in the process.

Armour and Gerber regretted that they ever went into the
project for someone else reaped the harvest.

An Interview with Judge Arthur Coats of
224 Fairman Street, Yuba City, California

Qe Why did the people of Sutter county think that the
central locatlion would be better than the eastern location?

A. The people contended that the basin was a natursl water
course and the state could not dam it off. They also contended
that to change the flow of water was against the law.

Q. Was the Sutter Basin obtained through fraud?

A. It was not obtained through fraud, but Armour used
all the pressure he could to get the change and keep his holdings in
one plecs,

Qe Was the By-pass an experiment?

A. The whole system of levees of the Sacramento River was
outlined by the Federal englneers and planned so that the By-pass
would run through the center of the basin., The reclamation ides
was the Federal govermments and the change was Armour's.

Qe Was the fight originally between the farmers in the
lower part of the county and the Armours or the whole county originally?
A. There were two lawsuits. One was the Samuel Gray sult for
the farmers of the county and the other one was the county suit over
the county's ownership of the roads. The whole county was opposed to
the project except for those persons who had purchased land in the
basin.

Qs Why did the land owners think that the Armours should
- bulld the east levee and that they should not have to help?

o The east levee was a state project. The maln struggle
was that neilther levees should be built and if they were going to
be bullt that the west levee should not be built before the east levee
for there would be flooding in the Barry and Tudor areas which there
WaSe .

Qe Was Sacramento for or against the By-pass?

A. Most people of Sacramento were not much interested one way
or another. Except for various officials in the legislature who took
the side of Armour, most people did not care.

Qe Was Sutter County being ridiculed by the press of the state?

Ao No, they were not ridiculed but some papers did belittle the
people of the county. Also, the position of the county was assailed
by some papers. :



- 27 .

Qe D1d the Sutter Basin Company have any trouble trying
to get settlers to come to the area?

A, The company first farmed the land themselves. Then they
sold off tracks of land, but they did not have any trouble because
of the litigation,
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